ALASKA STATE LEG SLATURE
SENATE LABOR AND COMVERCE STANDI NG COWM TTEE
March 2, 2017
1:34 p. m

VEMBERS PRESENT

Senator Ma Costello, Chair

Senat or Shel |l ey Hughes, Vice Chair
Senat or Kevi n Meyer

Senat or Berta Gardner

VEMBERS ABSENT
Senator Gary Stevens
COWM TTEE CALENDAR

SENATE BILL NO 15

"An Act relating to possession of an electronic snoking product
or a product containing nicotine by a mnor and to selling or
giving an electronic snmoking product to a mmnor; relating to
business license endorsenents to sell cigarettes, cigars,
t obacco, products containing tobacco, el ectronic  snoking
products, or products containing nicotine; and relating to
citations for certain offenses concerning tobacco or nicotine
products. "

- MOVED CSSB 15(L&C) OUT OF COMM TTEE

SENATE BI LL NO. 29

"An Act repealing the Wrkers' Conpensation Appeals Comm ssion;
relating to decisions and orders of the W rkers' Conpensation
Appeal s Conmi ssion; relating to superior court jurisdiction over
appeals from Al aska W rkers' Conpensation Board decisions;
repealing Rules 201.1, 401.1, and 501.1, Alaska Rules of
Appel l ate Procedure, and anending Rules 202(a), 204(a) - (c),
210(e), 601(b), and 603(a), Alaska Rules of Appellate Procedure;
and providing for an effective date.”

- MOVED SB 29 OQUT OF COW TTEE
SPONSCR SUBSTI TUTE FOR SENATE BI LL NO. 4

"An Act relating to the Board of Barbers and Hairdressers;
relating to a Ilimted Ilicense to practice non-chem cal

SENATE L&C COW TTEE -1- March 2, 2017



barbering; relating to a license to practice hair braiding;
relating to the Department of Environnental Conservation; and
providing for an effective date."

- HEARD & HELD
SENATE BILL NO. 51
"An Act extending the termnation date of the Board of
Veterinary Exam ners; and providing for an effective date."
- HEARD & HELD
PREVI QUS COWM TTEE ACTI ON
BILL: SB 15

SHORT TI TLE: E-CI GS: SALE TO AND POSSESSI ON BY M NOR
SPONSOR(s): SENATOR(s) STEVENS

01/13/17 (S PREFI LE RELEASED 1/13/17

01/18/ 17 (S READ THE FI RST Tl ME - REFERRALS
01/ 18/ 17 (S) L&C, JUD

02/ 14/ 17 (S) L&C AT 1:30 PM BELTZ 105 (TSBI dg)
02/ 14/ 17 (S) Heard & Held

02/ 14/ 17 (S) M NUTE( L&C)

02/ 21/ 17 (S) L&C AT 1:30 PM BELTZ 105 (TSBI dg)
02/ 21/ 17 (S) Heard & Held

02/ 21/ 17 (S) M NUTE( L&C)

02/ 28/ 17 (S L&C AT 1:30 PM BELTZ 105 ( TSBI dg)
02/ 28/ 17 (S <Bi |l Hearing Cancel ed>

03/ 02/ 17 (S) L&C AT 1:30 PM BELTZ 105 (TSBI dg)
BILL: SB 29

SHORT TI TLE: REPEAL WORKERS' COWMP APPEALS COWMM SSI ON
SPONSOR(s) : RULES BY REQUEST OF THE GOVERNOR

01/ 20/ 17 (S READ THE FI RST Tl ME - REFERRALS
01/ 20/ 17 (S) L&C, JUD, FIN

02/ 14/ 17 (S) L&C AT 1:30 PM BELTZ 105 (TSBI dg)
02/ 14/ 17 (S Heard & Held

02/ 14/ 17 (S) M NUTE( L&C)

02/ 28/ 17 (S) L&C AT 1:30 PM BELTZ 105 (TSBI dg)
02/ 28/ 17 (S) Heard & Hel d

02/ 28/ 17 (S) M NUTE( L&C)

03/ 02/ 17 (S) L&C AT 1:30 PM BELTZ 105 ( TSBI dg)
BILL: SB 4

SHORT TI TLE: NON- CHEM CAL BARBERI NG, HAI R BRAI DI NG

SENATE L&C COW TTEE - 2- March 2, 2017



SPONSOR(s): SENATOR(s) M CCl CHE

01/ 09/ 17 (S) PREFI LE RELEASED 1/ 9/ 17

01/ 18/ 17 (S) READ THE FIRST TIME - REFERRALS

01/ 18/ 17 (S) L&C, FIN

02/ 17/ 17 (S) SPONSOR SUBSTI TUTE | NTRODUCED- REFERRALS
02/ 17/ 17 (S) L&C, FIN

03/ 02/ 17 (S) L&C AT 1:30 PM BELTZ 105 (TSBI dg)

BILL: SB 51

SHORT TI TLE: EXTEND BOARD OF VETERI NARY EXAM NERS
SPONSOR(s): SENATOR(s) VON | MHOF

02/ 08/ 17 (S) READ THE FI RST TIME - REFERRALS
02/ 08/ 17 (S) L&C, FIN
03/ 02/ 17 (S) L&C AT 1:30 PM BELTZ 105 (TSBI dg)

W TNESS REG STER

TIM LAMKI N, Staff

Senator Gary Stevens

Al aska State Legislature

PCSI TI ON STATEMENT: Reviewed the differences between version A
and version R of SB 15.

ANGELA BI RT, Chief Investigator

Di vi sion of Corporations, Business, and Professional Licensing
Depart ment of Comrerce, Conmunity and Economi c Devel opnent
Juneau, Al aska

POSI TI ON STATEMENT: Provided information related to SB 15.

SENATOR PETER M CCl CHE

Al aska State Legislature

Juneau, Al aska

PCOSI TI ON STATEMENT: Sponsor of SB 4.

RACHEL HANKE, St af f

Senator Peter M cciche

Al aska State Legislature

Juneau, Al aska

PCOSI TI ON STATEMENT: Del i vered a sectional analysis for SSSB 4.

CHRI STI NA CARPENTER, Director

D vision of Environnmental Health

Depart ment of Environnmental Conservation (DEC)
Anchor age, Al aska

SENATE L&C COW TTEE - 3- March 2, 2017



PCSI TI ON STATEMENT: Answered questions related to SSSB 4.

JANEY HOVENDEN, Director

Di vi sion of Corporations, Business and Professional Licensing
Depart ment of Comrerce, Conmunity and Econom ¢ Devel opnent
Juneau, Al aska

PCOSI TI ON STATEMENT: Answered questions related to SSSB 4.

W LLI E CANADY, Menber

Board of Barbers and Hairdressers

Anchor age, Al aska

PCSI TI ON STATEMENT: Testified in support of SSSB 4.

JEANNI NE JABAAY, Member

Board of Barbers and Hairdressers

Hope, Al aska

PCSI TI ON STATEMENT: Testified in support of SSSB 4.

KEVI N MCKI NLEY, Chair

Board of Barbers and Hairdressers

Anchor age, Al aska

POSI TI ON STATEMENT: Testified in support of SSSB 4.

DAVE COLESON, d d- Fashi oned Bar ber
Kenai, Al aska
PCSI TI ON STATEMENT: Testified in support of SSSB 4.

SHAREEN CROSBY, Staff

Senat or Nat asha von | mhof

Al aska State Legislature

PCSI TI ON STATEMENT: Introduced SB 51 on behal f of the sponsor.

SENATOR NATASHA VON | VHOF

Al aska State Legislature

Juneau, Al aska

PCOSI TI ON STATEMENT: Sponsor of SB 51.

KRI'S CURTI S, Legislative Auditor

Di vision of Legislative Audit

Al aska State Legislature

Juneau, Al aska

POSI TI ON STATEMENT: Discussed the sunset audit addressed in SB
51.

RACHEL BERNGARTT, Menber

Board of Veterinary Exam ners
Juneau, Al aska

SENATE L&C COW TTEE -4- March 2, 2017



POSI TI ON STATEMENT: Testified on SB 51.

PAMELA SAMASH, representing herself

Nenana, Al aska

POSI TI ON STATEMENT: Testified in opposition to SB 51 due to |ack
of rural representation.

MARG E RILEY, representing herself

Nenana, Al aska

PCOSI TI ON STATEMENT: Testified in opposition to SB 51 due to |ack
of rural representation.

ANG E FI TCH, representing herself

Fai r banks, Al aska

PCSI TI ON STATEMENT: Testified in opposition to SB 51 due to |ack
of rural representation.

LEA MCKENZI E, representing herself

Sutton, Al aska

PCOSI TI ON STATEMENT: Testified in opposition to SB 51 due to |ack
of rural representation.

BRI AN BERUBE

Veterinary dinic

Rural Al aska

PCSI TI ON STATEMENT: Testified that he would support SB 51 if it
were anended to include rural representation.

ACTI ON NARRATI VE

1: 34: 05 PM

CHAIR M A COSTELLO called the Senate Labor and Comrerce Standing
Commttee neeting to order at 1:34 p.m Present at the call to
order were Senators Meyer, Hughes, Gardner, and Chair Costello.

SB 15-E-CIGS: SALE TO AND POSSESSI ON BY M NCR

1: 35: 13 PM
CHAI R COSTELLO announced the consideration of SB 15. She noted
that there was a new conmittee substitute (CS)

1:35:57 PM
SENATOR HUGHES noved to adopt the work draft CS for Senate Bill
15, | abel ed 30-LS0170\ R, as the working docunent.

1: 36: 07 PM

SENATE L&C COW TTEE - 5- March 2, 2017



CHAI R COSTELLO obj ected for an expl anation

TIM LAWKI N, Staff, Senat or Gary Stevens, Al aska State
Legi sl ature, sponsor of SB 15, renmnded the nenbers that the
primary purpose of the is bill is to restrict youth access to e-
cigarette products.

He reviewed the changes between version A and version R of SB 15
speaking to the followng sunmary: [ Original punct uati on
provi ded. ]

The Departnent of Conmmerce, Comunity, & Econom c Devel opnent
requested penalties associated with violations of the |[|aw
restricting youth access to tobacco and E-Cigarette products
be increased to nore effectively conpel conpliance, as
descri bed bel ow.

CSSB 15 (L& C) Version R, increases the crimnal and civil
penalties (fines) associated wth violating the Iaw by selling
t obacco, products containing nicotine, or E-Cigarette products
to mnors, as follows:

1. Under AS 43.70.075(d), the person holding the
busi ness |icense endorsenent is fined the follow ng:

1st offense: a civil penalty of $1,000
(i ncreased from $300)

2nd offense: a civil penalty of $2,000
(i ncreased from $500)

3rd offense: a civil penalty of $4,000
(i ncreased from $1, 000)

After 3 convi cti ons: suspend i cense
indefinitely (increased from 1 year) and a
civil penalty of $10,000 (increased from
$2, 500)

The only other substantive change in Version R is
regarding the required product 'warning signage. The
verbiage is consolidated to include reference to
tobacco products, products containing nicotine, or
"electronic snoking products,” as being illegal to
sell to persons under the age of 19. The di nmensions of
the signage were reduced to 8.5" x 11" to allow for
nmore efficient nmeans for DCED to e-mail signage to

SENATE L&C COW TTEE - 6- March 2, 2017



vendors, and for vendors to print and post signage on
their own. This change will reduce the current fisca
not e consi derably.

1:39: 30 PM
SENATOR HUGHES asked what "indefinite suspension of |[|icense
after three convictions” neans in practice.

MR. LAMKIN suggested the departnent speak to that, but he
believes there would be no good-faith renedy after three
convi cti ons.

1:40: 34 PM

ANGELA BIRT, Chief Investigator, Division of Corporations,
Busi ness, and Professional Licensing, Departnment of Commerce,
Community and Econom c Devel opnent (DCCED), explained that a
busi ness or person could resune selling tobacco products if both
DCCED and the Department of Health and Social Services were
satisfied that appropriate training and constraints were in
place to prevent the sale of tobacco or nicotine products to
chi | dren.

CHAI R COSTELLO asked the departnent to put that in witing, so
it could follow the bill through the process.

SENATOR HUGHES commented that three occurrences over 30 years is
very different than three occurrences over just a few years so
it's appropriate to have a path back to good standi ng.

VR. LAMKIN pointed out that the Dbill stipulates three
occurrences wthin two years.

SENATOR GARDNER asked if the departnent wanted the penalties in
Section 14 to apply to all tobacco sales and if the bill is a
vehicle for that.

MR. LAMKIN said that is his understanding but the departnent
shoul d speak to that directly.

1:43: 22 PM

M5. BIRT confirnmed that the department asked for the change to
update the fine structure and support the cost of running the
program

SENATE L&C COW TTEE -7- March 2, 2017



SENATOR HUGHES asked if the bill only requires these products to
be behind the counter and out of reach, not out of a child's
si ght .

MR LAMKIN answered that's correct.

SENATOR HUGHES suggested that should be addressed at sone point
in the future. She asked if the sponsor would consider requiring
the products to be out of sight rather than just incidentally
behi nd t he counter.

MR. LAMKIN said that has been brought to the sponsor’s attention
and the idea will be vetted.

CHAIR COSTELLO renoved her objection and found no further
obj ection; therefore, version R was adopt ed.

1:48:10 PM
SENATOR HUGHES noved to report the CS for SB 15 from conmttee
wi th individual recommendati ons and attached fiscal note(s).

CHAI R COSTELLO announced that w thout objection, CSSB 15(L&C) is
reported fromthe Senate Labor and Commerce Standing Commttee.

1: 48: 23 PM

SB 29- REPEAL WORKERS' COVP APPEALS COWM SSI ON

1:50: 33 PM

CHAIR COSTELLO reconvened the neeting and announced the
consideration of SB 29. She noted that the departnent endorsed
the bill and Andy Henmenway contacted her office to say he is
interested in changing his earlier testinony. She suggested he
send a letter so that his sentiment could be included in the
official bill file. She noted that M. Henenway was the forner
[Chair] of the W rkers' Conpensation Appeals Conm ssion so he
has intimte know edge of how the conm ssion works. Finding no
guestions, she solicited a notion.

1:52: 09 PM
SENATOR HUGHES noved to report SB 29 from committee wth
i ndi vi dual recommendati ons and attached fiscal note(s).

CHAI R COSTELLO announced that wthout objection, SB 29 is
reported fromthe Senate Labor and Commerce Standing Comm ttee.

1:52: 27 PM

SENATE L&C COW TTEE - 8- March 2, 2017



At ease

SB  4- NON- CHEM CAL BARBERI NG HAI R BRAI DI NG

1: 56: 14 PM
CHAIR COSTELLO reconvened the neeting and announced the
consideration of SSSB 4. She stated that this is the first

hearing and the intention is to hear the bill, take nenber's
questions, and hold the bill for further consideration.

1:56:57 PM

SENATOR PETER M CCICHE, Al aska State Legislature, sponsor of
SSSB 4, introduced the bill speaking to the follow ng sponsor

statenment: [Original punctuation provided.]

During this tinme of recession in Al aska s econony, we
are evaluating the balance between quality training
progranms and situations where government has hindered
coomerce and the ability for Alaskans to earn a
living. Revisions to the barbers’ and hairdressers’
statutes provide several opportunities to correct
t hese i nbal ances.

Under Title 8 licensed professionals regulated by the
Board of Barbers and Hairdressers (Board) nust work in
a licensed shop. These students or practitioners are
required by statute to conspicuously display their
i censes, however the shop owner is not. This inequity
has led to enpl oyees being fined because, unbeknownst
to them the shop owner’s license had | apsed.

SSSB4 requires the shop owner to conspicuously display
the shop license, as well as the licenses of
enpl oyees, renters and students.

By statute, an individual must obtain a shop
certification from the Departnent of Environnental
Conservation (DEC) before they receive a license from
the Board of Barbers and Hairdressers. The DEC is no
| onger provi di ng certifications due to budget
reductions. SSSB4 wll allow a DEC standard self-
certification process regul ated through the Board.

Additionally, SSSB4 creates two new license types.
First is a non-chemcal barber’s license. Currently,
all barbers are held to nearly the sane standard as
hairdressers and are required to have practica

SENATE L&C COW TTEE - 9- March 2, 2017



training in chemcal waving, chem cal straightening,
bl eachi ng, and col ori ng.

They nust conplete a total of 1,650 training hours or
3,000 apprentice hours, which is equivalent to

hai rdressers. SSSB4 will open the door to nore
Al askans interested in joining the industry by
bal ancing training requirements and reducing the
burden. In essence, the bill provides nore econonic

opportunity and [|ess governnent-induced burden for
hard working Alaskans. The higher-1|evel bar ber’ s
license will remain available to those who wish to
perform chem cal procedures.

Finally, SSSB4 wll <create a specific license for
brai ding; a trade that has been growing in popularity.
Braiders are also being held to the sane standard as

hai rdressers, including the sane 1,650 hours or nore
of practical training in addition to a witten exam
This bill will welcone nore workers into the industry,

creating jobs and a stronger econony by balancing
training requirenents to the specific demands and
required skills of the trade.

1:59: 55 PM
RACHEL HANKE, Staff, Senator M cciche, Al aska State Legislature,
delivered the follow ng sectional analysis of SSSB 4.

Section 1

AS 08.01.065(h) renobves the requirenment that the
Departnment of Environnental Conservation inspect or
regul ate barbering, hai r dr essi ng, mani curi ng, or
est hetics establishnents.

Section 2, 5, 10-11, 13, 16-18, 20, 22-24

Add the term “hair braiding” or “hair braider” to
statute.
Section 3

AS 08.13.030(c) renoves the ability of the DEC to
investigate the practices of a person, shop or school
in the fields of barbering, hairdressing, manicuring
or esthetics, it also adds hair braiding to this list.
Adds new subsection that will continue to allow the

SENATE L&C COW TTEE -10- March 2, 2017



DEC to investigate practices for body piercing,
tattooi ng, and permanent cosnetic col oring.

Section 4

AS 08.13.040 adds a new subsection that will not allow
the board to admnister an exam to an individual
applying for a limted non-chem cal barber’s license
that tests a person’s knowedge in the areas of
chem cal processes such as per manent wavi ng,
bl eachi ng, coloring, or chem cal straightening.

Section 6

AS 08.13.080(a) specifies that courses and curricul um
required for a barber’s exam nation may be limted to
non- chem cal barberi ng.

Section 7

AS 08.13.080 adds a new subsection (e) t hat
establishes the application requirenments for a hair
brai ding |icense.

Section 8

AS 08.13.082(a) renoves the ability of the board to
require a person applying for a limted non-chem cal
barber’s license to have practical hours or training
in chem cal processes, which includes pernmanent
wavi ng, bl eaching, coloring or chem cal straightening.

Section 9

AS 08.13.100(a) adds a sentence that requires the
board to issue a hair braiding license to each
applicant who satisfied all requirenents under AS
08. 13.080(d) .

Section 12

AS 08.13.100 adds new subsection (f) that directs the
board to adopt regulations allowing for the practice
of  non-chem cal barbering and requires that the
[imtation be stated on the |icense.

Section 14

SENATE L&C COW TTEE -11- March 2, 2017



AS 08.13.120 adds new subsection instructs the board
to adopt reqgqulations for standards of cleanliness for
licensed establishnents, not including tattooing,
pi erci ng or permanent cosnetic col oring.

Section 15

AS 08.13.130(a) is anended to state that a shop owner
is responsible for conspicuous display of the shop’s
license, as well as enployees’ and booth renters’
i censes.

Section 19

AS 08.13.185(a) requires that the board set fees for
initial hair braiding Iicenses and renewal s.

Section 21

AS 08.13.210(a) establishes that the board wll
supervise health and sanitary conditions in barbering,
hai rdressing, hair braiding, manicuring and esthetics
shops, maintains that DEC will supervise the tattoo,
pi ercing and cosnetic col oring shops.

Section 25

AS 44.46.020(a) renoves the requirenent that DEC
regul ate the standards of cleanliness and sanitation
in barbering, hairdressing, manicuring or esthetics
shops.

Section 26

Uncodified law directs the board to adopt necessary
regul ations to inplenent these changes but not before
the effective date.

Section 27

Uncodified law — provides that section 26 wll take
effect i mredi ately.

Section 28

SENATE L&C COW TTEE -12- March 2, 2017



Uncodified law — provides that all other sections take
effect January 1, 2018.

CHAI R COSTELLO asked if there is a definition in statute for
hai r brai di ng.

M5. HANKE read the definition on page 9, lines 1-4, of the bill.

CHAI R COSTELLO asked if the bill covers environnments such as a
state fair where a volunteer m ght be braiding.

M5. HANKE said she would check with the departnment but she
bel i eves they would need a |icense.

SENATOR M CCICHE clarified that the bill doesn't expand the
universe of those required to have a Ilicense. It sinply
streanmlines the requirenents for professional hair braiders.

2:04: 52 PM
SENATOR HUGHES asked if a hairdresser could hire soneone right
now who knows how to braid but isn't licensed. If so, the bil

woul d i ncrease the requirenents for hair braiders.

SENATOR M CCI CHE enphasi zed that the bill reduces requirenents.
A hairdresser can’'t hire sonmeone to work in their shop if they
haven't been through the training. He said the bill tries to
bal ance the training hours against DEC s requirenents for
hygi ene.

SENATOR HUGHES asked for an explanation of how it would work to
have the board supervise health and sanitary conditions for hair
br ai di ng.

CHRI STI NA CARPENTER, Director, D vision of Environnental Health
Departnment of  Environnent al Conservation (DEC), Anchorage,
Al aska, explained that with FY2016 budget reducti ons DEC neither
i ssues nmenos of non-objection for a business to operate nor does
i nspections as a result of conplaints.

SENATOR MCCICHE said he envisions that none of the DEC
standards will be reduced. The board wll develop a system of
self-certification to maintain those sane standards and provide
t he sane protections.

SENATOR HUGHES asked if the board has the authority to
i nvestigate conpl aints.

SENATE L&C COW TTEE -13- March 2, 2017



SENATOR MCCICHE clarified that DEC isn't relinquishing its
authority if there is a hygi ene conpl aint.

2: 09: 38 PM
SENATOR MEYER asked if hair braiders in a booth at the state
fair and simlar venues would be required to have a |license.

2:10: 22 PM

JANEY HOVENDEN, Director, Division of Corporations, Business and
Prof essi onal Licensing, Departnent of Comerce, Conmunity and
Econom ¢ Devel opnent (DCCED), advised that a volunteer would not
need a license; they are only required when sonmeone is braiding
for commrercial purposes.

SENATOR MEYER asked if it’s a commercial operation if the booth
is charging $10 for braiding.

M5. HOVENDON said she would follow up with the answer.

SENATOR MEYER said he likes the South Dakota approach that
doesn’t require training or licensing for hair braiding.

SENATOR M CCICHE restated that there are sone expectations of
hygiene and cleanliness that need to be balanced against
requirenments for training. He acknow edged that fewer training
hours is the commttee’'s discretion and offered his belief that
no training woul d be i nadequate.

SENATOR MEYER asked how many hours of training would get Al aska
to an A or B grade.

SENATOR M CCI CHE reviewed a handout that indicated that a state
woul d receive an A if it didn't require any training hours, an
A- if it required 6 hours of training, and a B+ if it required
16 hours of training. He said he isn't shooting for an Ain this
context because there is sonme responsibility to ensure the
heal th and wel | bei ng of Al askans.

SENATOR MEYER asked if that organization also grades non-
chemi cal barbers.

2:15: 06 PM

SENATOR M CCICHE said the docunment he is citing only addresses
br ai di ng.

SENATE L&C COW TTEE -14- March 2, 2017



SENATOR MEYER conmented on not inposing an undue burden on
barbers with 35 hours of training and added that he woul d accept
what the bill proposes.

SENATOR M CCICHE said he trusts the Board of Barbers and
Hai rdressers and he believes their approach has been reasonabl e.
He asked the conmttee to also take a reasonable approach to
ensure adequate public safety.

2:16: 42 PM

SENATOR GARDNER said it seens that the shop owner has
responsibility for basic cleanliness of the facility and making
sure that workers practice basic sterilizing for brushes and
conbs. She said she doesn't see a l|lot of public purpose in
requiring 35 hours training for someone who is braiding hair.
She expressed concern that DEC doesn’'t do any inspections and
related a personal experience that denonstrates the need for
t hem

SENATOR M CClI CHE pointed out that inspections are not being done
now, and individuals are |icensed on their professional conduct.
The shop is |licensed, and the professional hairdresser is
licensed. Should the bill pass, barbers and braiders wll have
their own standards of conduct and professionalism but all the
licenses require sonme |evel of training. He urged balance and
cautioned against amending the bill to zero hours of training
for braiders.

2:20: 00 PM
SENATOR HUGHES asked if the 35 hours is all on hygiene or if
part of it is instruction in braiding.

SENATOR M CCI CHE said Section 7 lays out the health, safety, and
skill training for a hair braider.

SENATOR HUGHES nentioned the health concern of detecting lice
and scalp infections that a braider would need to be aware of.

2:22:04 PM

SENATOR GARDNER asked, instead of identifying a nunber of hours,
if it makes sense to say a person has to denobnstrate an
appropriate understanding of the health, safety, and sanitation
practices for the particular work. It would be different for
sonmeone who does braiding than sonmeone who does chem cal dying.

SENATOR M CCICHE clarified that all certifications are based on
hours of training. The bill reduces the nunber of hours required

SENATE L&C COW TTEE - 15- March 2, 2017



for barbers and hair braiders to be certified from 1,650 to 35.
The board has determined that this is the nunmber of hours to
adequately train an individual to understand the trade as well
as public health, safety, and sanitation.

SENATOR GARDNER observed that this can be an entry |eve
business and not everyone has to have the sane |level of
expertise. A haircut can cost $100 or $10 and the market
acconmodat es t hat.

SENATOR HUGHES asked what it would cost for 35 hours of
i nstruction.

SENATOR M CCI CHE deferred the question to the board and rem nded
the conmmttee that the bill is about reducing the nunber of
hours of instruction from 1,650 to 35. He reiterated that it is
inportant to recognize basic policies and procedures that ensure
public safety.

2:26:02 PM

CHAI R COSTELLO asked Ms. Hovenden if the Board of Barbers and
Hai rdressers is operating in the red or black and if she had any
concerns to share with the commttee.

M5. HOVENDEN advised that the board ended the first quarter of
FY2017 $460,688 in the black, and that there are no concerns
about the board's financial health.

2:27:15 PM
CHAI R COSTELLO opened public testinony on SSSB 4.

2:27:33 PM

WLLIE CANADY, Menber, Board of Barbers and Hairdressers,
Anchorage, Al aska, explained that hair braiding is neshing,
weavi ng, and in-weaving natural hair wthout using chem cals.
She maintained that 35 hours of instruction is adequate to
ensure an understanding of safety, sanitation, and hair and
scal p analysis. The bill seeks to encourage braiders to cone out
of the shadows and ensure health and safety for custoners. She
said many braiders operate out of their hones because they don't
want to pay for 1,600 hours of instruction when 85 percent of
the curriculum doesn't apply to braiding. She pointed out that
the bill does not cover advanced techniques such as full-head
weavi ng, just braiding.

CHAI R COSTELLO asked her to email photos to illustrate the type
of braiding under discussion.

SENATE L&C COW TTEE -16- March 2, 2017



SENATOR MEYER said he's cone to agree with the sponsor that 35
hours of training is adequate, but he wonders how nuch it would
cost and how nmany places in Alaska provide this type of
traini ng.

M5. CANADY said everyone she's spoken with agrees that anything
under 50 hours is sufficient for braiding certification.

CHAI R COSTELLO asked her to forward the letters discussing hours
of instruction to her office. She also asked what t he
instructi on costs.

M5. CANADY estimated that 50 hours woul d cost about $600.
CHAI R COSTELLO asked what brai ders charge.

M5. CANADY said it depends on what the client wants, but it can
cost $350-$500 for a job that takes two days to conplete. Basic
cornrows wi thout any design costs $25-$50.

CHAI R COSTELLO asked how many training facilities are in Al aska.
M5. CANADY replied there are none.

CHAI R COSTELLO asked where in Alaska you could receive the 35
hours of training.

M5. CANADY said any hair school or shop with an apprenticeship.

2:37:11 PM
SENATOR GARDNER asked who is responsible for evaluating and
approving the quality of the trainers.

M5. CANADY said you need to be a licensed instructor in the
state of Al aska.

SENATOR GARDNER asked who |icenses instructors in Al aska.

M5. CANADY replied the Board of Barbers and Hairdressers. She
also discussed instruction requirenments for non- chem cal
bar bering. She suggested |ooking at the curriculum and renoving
the portions related to the use of chemicals to tell what the
appropriate nunber of hours of instruction would be for non-
chem cal barbers, which involves learning to use scissors and
gi ve a shave.

SENATE L&C COW TTEE -17- March 2, 2017



2:38:43 PM

JEANNI NE JABAAY, Menber, Board of Barbers and Hairdressers,
Hope, Al aska, stated that SSSB 4 will help grow conmerce, clean
up the statutes, and renmpve burdensone regulation. Creating new
licenses for hair braiding and non-chemcal barbering wll
i ncrease job opportunities. She said board nenbers and |icensees
are very concerned about cross contamnation of contagious
di seases of the scalp and want practitioners who recognizes
t hese i ssues.

She agreed with Ms. Canady's testinony that there is no formnal
training in Alaska to teach braiding and instruction on safety
and sanitation. She shared her preference to allow the board to
adopt regulations to denonstrate that safety standards are being
nmet, simlar to how it is addressed for non-chem cal barbering

Addressing an earlier question, she opined that current schools
t hroughout the state could easily adopt new curriculum to
address these new |icenses.

She stated support for elimnating the reference to DEC
i nspections because they haven't happened since July of 2015.
That is what forced the board to allow self-certification. Under
the current process, the applicant submts a notarized form
stating that they neet the DEC safety regulations. She pointed
out that self-certification is not conpliant with statute and
exposes the state to a potential |awsuit.

The bill also protects enployees by requiring a shop owner to
display their current license. She noted there is a letter of
support in the packets from a shop owner who doesn't believe
their enployees should be penalized if the owner allowed their
license to lapse. Wth regard to volunteers at schools, fairs,
and church carnivals that manipulate hair for a fee and not
charity, she said those operations fall outside the statute. She
stated support anending the bill to correct that.

M5. JABAAY suggested adding a provision to grandfather nai
technicians so they don't have to prove additional educationa
hours. This was an uni ntended consequence of House Bill 131 that
was enacted in January 2016. It affects 994 technicians who
could lose their livelihood by 2019 if the amendnent isn't made.

She highlighted that the board is receipt supported and is

consistently operating in the black. She expects it to carry a
zero general fund fiscal note.

SENATE L&C COW TTEE - 18- March 2, 2017



CHAI R COSTELLO noted that the bill has a fiscal note, so it wll
go to the Finance Conmittee. She expressed appreciation for the
information that the 35 hours of instruction doesn't have to do
wi th non-chem cal barbering. The board wll decide the hours
required for that training.

2:44: 05 PM

KEVIN MCKINLEY, Chair, Board of Barbers and Hairdressers,
Anchor age, Al aska, said the board agrees with the testinony from
Ms. Canady and M. Jabaay on SSSB 4. He agreed wth the
provision to renove the requirement for DEC inspections fromthe
statutes, and opined that 35 hours of training isn't nuch tine
when the curriculumis split into safety, sanitation, and skin
conditions, and then the actual hair braiding.

He al so stated support for anmending the bill to grandfather nai
technicians from House Bill 131 and addressing braiders who
vol unteer their services.

SENATOR HUGHES asked Ms. Jabaay if she supports treating
instruction for hair braiders the sane as for non-chem cal
bar beri ng.

M5. JABAAY said her personal preference is to allow the Board to
adopt regulations governing hours of instruction instead of
t hrough the | egislative process.

SENATOR HUGHES suggested getting the sponsor's thoughts on that
reconmmrendat i on.

2:48: 59 PM

DAVE COLESON, representing hinself, Kenai, Al aska, stated he has
been a licensed barber in Alaska since 1985 and a licensed
instructor since 1992. He tal ked about the injustice to the nen
and wonen of Al aska because the ol d-fashioned barbershops are
di sappearing. Forcing students to learn how to perform chem ca
services is unnecessary for those who want to be a plain old-
fashioned barber. He said the current mndset won't keep this
iconic American tradition alive and nen and wonen will be deeply
di sappointed when they can't find an iconic barbershop to
introduce their son to keep the nonthly Saturday haircut
tradition alive. He shared that as an instructor he is
approached by a few people a year who want to do straight-razor
shaves and flat tops, but when they find they will be required
to learn to performperns and hair coloring they back off.

SENATE L&C COW TTEE -19- March 2, 2017



He expressed hope for a law that allows the continued existence
of barbers that do not have a chem cal |icense.

CHAI R COSTELLO clarified that his letter states support for SSSB
4 because it addresses individuals who want to be a barber but
not a beauti ci an.

MR. COLESON agr eed.

2:51: 07 PM

SENATOR GARDNER thanked M. Coleson for his testinony. It
rem nded her that her grandfather converted his front porch to a
bar bershop when he retired. "He spent the rest of his life
cutting his neighbors' hair and giving them a Saturday norning
shave. "

MR. COLESON replied it's an inportant part of the fabric of the
nati on.

SENATOR HUGHES shared that her father-in-law was an old-
fashi oned barber; she envisions a Norman Rockwel | painting.

MR. COLESON responded, "W're losing that, and we need to keep
it alive.”

2:52:13 PM
CHAI R COSTELLO cl osed public testinony on SSSB 4 and held the
bill in commttee.

SB 51- EXTEND BOARD OF VETERI NARY EXAM NERS

2:52: 47 PM
CHAI R COSTELLO announced the consideration of SB 51. She noted
that this is the first hearing; the intention is to hear the

bill, take nenbers questions, take public testinony, and hold
the bill for further consideration.
2:53: 34 PM

SHAREEN CROSBY, Staff, Senator Natasha von |nmhof, Alaska State
Legi slature, introduced SB 51 on behalf of the sponsor speaking
to the foll ow ng sponsor statenent:

SB 51 extends the termnation date of the Board of
Veterinary Exam ners (BVE). Currently, the board wll
sunset on June 30, 2017. SB 51 extends this date by
ei ght years, to June 30, 2025.

SENATE L&C COW TTEE - 20- March 2, 2017



| encourage all of the nenbers to review the
Legislative Audit sumary and the full audit report
Your will see that in the opinion of our auditors, the
BE is serving the public's interest by effectively
licensing and regulating veterinarians and veterinary
techni ci ans. The board nonitors |icensees and works to
ensure only qual i fied i ndi vi dual s practice.
Additionally it was found, the board develops and
adopts regulations to inprove the veterinarian and
veterinary technician occupations in Al aska.

The BVE serves an inportant role in protecting the
health and safety of Alaska's many pets and farm
animals. From lap dogs to sled dogs, ball pythons to
sleigh-pulling work horses, our pets and aninmals in
Al aska deserve qualified veterinarians and veterinary
technicians for their care and well-Dbeing. The
continuation of the board is very inportant.

MS. CROSBY noted the individuals avail able to answer questions.

SENATOR NATASHA VON | VHOF, Al aska State Legislature, sponsor of
SB 51, said this is an excellent board that does good work. She
deferred questions to her staff and the auditor.

CHAI R COSTELLO clarified that testinony should be restricted to
the bill itself.

2:56: 37 PM

KRI'S CURTIS, Legislative Auditor, Division of Legislative Audit,
Al aska State Legislature, stated that the division conducted a
sunset audit of the Board of Veterinary Exam ners and concl uded
that the board is serving the public interest by effectively
i censing and regul ating veterinarians and veterinary
technicians and is appropriately regulating the industry. The
audit recommends that the legislature extend the board's
term nation date eight years to June 30, 2025.

She directed attention to Exhibit 2 on page 5 of the audit that
reports that as of February 2016 this board had 670 I|icenses.
She noted this is a 57 percent increase since the |ast sunset
audit in 2008. Exhibit 3 on page 5 reports that at the end of
FY2013 the board had a $108,829 surplus. Fees were decreased at
that time so at the end of FY2015 the surplus was $22,735. Fees
were not adjusted and at the end of February 2016 the board was
running a [$25,828] deficit. At the tinme of the audit, the

SENATE L&C COW TTEE -21- March 2, 2017



Division of Corporations, Business and Professional Licensing
i ndi cated plans to reassess fees at the end of FY2016.

M5. CURTIS directed attention to the adm nistrative housekeepi ng
recommendation on page 7 for the board chair to review the
annual report for accuracy and conpleteness before fina
subm ssion to the Departnent of Conmerce, Conmunity, and
Econom c Develop. It was an oversight of DCBPL staff that every
year for the last four years the board reported on the status of
the Board of Dental Exam ners rather than those of the Board of
Veterinary Exam ners.

2:59: 14 PM
SENATOR GARDNER asked if the board addressed the fee increase at
the end of FY2016.

M5. CURTIS said she didn't know and deferred the question to the
di vi si on.

SENATOR MEYER asked about the 69 open conplaints, 18 of which
resulted in investigations.

M5. CURTIS said that is discussed on the bottom of page 3. She
par aphrased the foll ow ng:

There were 69 conplaints open or opened between July
1, 2012, and Febr uary 15, 2016. Ei ght een
investigations resulted from the conplaints, of which
14 were closed during the period. The remaining four
open investigations were open for |ess than eight
mont hs as of February 2016.

She explained that this review is done to assess tinely
investigations and the <conclusion was there was not a
significant problemw th tineliness.

SENATOR GARDNER asked if the conplaints that wer en' t
i nvestigated were not pursued because they were unfounded, out
of jurisdiction, or some other reason.

M5. CURTIS said the audit doesn't report the reason, but the
myriad of codes for not going forward include those she
nment i oned.

SENATOR GARDNER asked if those nunbers are in the auditor's
confort range.

SENATE L&C COW TTEE -22- March 2, 2017



M5. CURTIS said the risk-based approach to auditing indicated it
didn't warrant expendi ng resources.

CHAI R COSTELLO asked what the threshold is for identifying an
area as a risk worth investigating.

M5. CURTI S expl ai ned that during the planning survey phase of an
audit they review board neeting mnutes and annual reports, they
i nterview board nenbers and departnent |icensing staff, and they
get statistics from the investigative section. If that process
shows conplaints aren't followed up or there are concerns wth
investigations in general, they will identify that as an area of
risk and do detailed audit work on it.

SENATOR GARDNER asked if wunusually high expenses accounted for
the rapidly declining surplus between FY2013 and FY2015, because
| icenses increased 57 percent in that tinmefrane.

M5. CURTIS said the detail expenditures in Exhibit 3 were not
identified as an area of concern. She acknow edged that
increasing licenses typically reduces a deficit.

CHAI R COSTELLO asked when the board was established and if an
ei ght-year extension is a typical for this board.

M5. CURTIS said this board received the nmaxinum eight-year
extension after the 2008 sunset audit. She noted that the
recommendations from the prior audit are at the top of page 7.
One reconmendation was to review and decrease licensing fees

which is an indication there was a surplus. Anot her
recommendation was to fill vacant seats in a tinely manner.
Those recomrendati ons were addressed.

3: 05:40 PM
At ease

3:05: 45 PM
CHAIR COSTELLO reconvened the neeting and opened public
testi nony on SB 51.

3:06: 46 PM
RACHEL BERNGARTT, Menber , Board of Veterinary Exam ners,
reported that in July 2016 the cost to renew all licenses for

this board increased dramatically; for veterinarians a |icense
junped from $300 to $500. The board suggested nunbers they
t hought would significantly address the deficit, but the state

SENATE L&C COW TTEE -23- March 2, 2017



had a different idea. She predicted that the board woul d soon be
well in the bl ack.

She pointed out that the audit found the board to be functional,
necessary and uni que.

SENATOR MEYER asked the cost of a veterinary license and a
veterinary technician |icense.

M5. BERNGARTT said the veterinary license renewal is $500 and
the veterinary technician license renewal is $100. Prior to 2016
t he nunbers were $300 and $50 respectively.

SENATOR HUGHES asked if there is still a shortage of
veterinarians in Al aska.

M5. BERNGARTT replied the state is in nuch better shape now than
a few years ago. She advised that the University of Al aska
Fai rbanks has a veterinarian program now, after two years the
students transfer to a sister program at a university in the
Lower 48. She added that the board is very cognizant of the
shortage and strives to get veterinary services to rura
conmuni ties.

SENATOR HUGHES said that's encouraging to hear.

3:11: 24 PM

PAMELA SAMASH, representing herself, Nenana, Al aska, stated
opposition to SB 51 because the current board has done little to
hel p people in rural conmmunities. Her community is going on the
fourth year of having no veterinary care, which includes no spay
or neutering and no rabies vaccines. This is a problem
t hroughout Al aska and it stens from the fact that the current
board has no rural representation.

She proposed starting with an entirely new board where rural
peopl e have a voi ce.

SENATOR GARDNER asked if she has suggestions about how the board
can i ncrease the nunber of veterinarians in rural Al aska.

M5. SAMASH said it would help to have a couple of people from
rural communities on the board. They would actually | ook at the
licenses of traveling vets who apply and deci de whether or not
to approve the applications. That isn't happening right now,
it's generally known that itinerate vets have difficulty getting
a license in Al aska.

SENATE L&C COW TTEE - 24- March 2, 2017



SENATOR GARDNER asked if she is saying that traveling or out-of-
state veterinarians don't get the necessary approval to practice
in Al aska.

M5. SAMASH said that's been her experience.

CHAI R COSTELLO asked if her reference to traveling veterinarians
means about veterinarians wthin Alaska who would travel to
rural conmmunities to provide services or veterinarians from
outside the state who would do the sane.

M5. SAMASH said all the above although it's nore difficult for

veterinarians from outside the state to get a I|icense.
Veterinarians within the state generally charge full price
despite the limted resources of nmany rural residents

Veterinarians from outside often cone from organizations that
help with supplies so the cost to the consunmer is |ess. She
hi ghlighted the problem of expired rabies vaccines and the
dearth of rabies clinics in rural Alaska. It's becom ng a human
heal th risk, she said.

3:18:54 PM

MARG E RILEY, representing herself, Nenana, Al aska, testified in
opposition to SB 51. She reported on the lack of health care for
animals throughout the Interior. She asked the commttee to
reconsi der the conposition of the board and recognize the
i nportance of having veterinarians who wll travel to rural
conmuni ti es.

3:20: 38 PM

ANG E FITCH, representing herself, Fairbanks, Al aska, urged the
commttee to either vote no on SB 51 or anend it to add rura
representation.

3:21:27 PM

LEA MCKENZI E, representing herself, Sutton, Al aska, testified in
opposition to SB 51. She described her experience wth aninal
rescue and working in a clinic with a traveling veterinarian.
Based on that experience she does not believe that the board is
serving the public interest. She urged the commttee not to
extend the board until changes are made such that traveling
veterinarians are approved to work in renote vill ages.

3:23:18 PM

BRI AN BERUBE, representing hinmself, Rural, Al aska, advised that
he has hel ped set up veterinary clinics in rural communities and

SENATE L&C COW TTEE -25- March 2, 2017



he believes that the veterinary board has made progress in
trying to solve the problens in rural conmmunities associated
W th access to care. However, it's clear that a |large portion of
the state doesn't have adequate access to veterinary care.
Having rural representation on the board would be beneficial for
those areas and the entire state and inprove the public
per cepti on.

CHAI R COSTELLO held SB 51 in conmmttee for further consideration
with public testinony open.

CHAI R COSTELLO revi ewed the agenda for the foll ow ng week.
3:26:46 PM
There being no further business to cone before the commttee,

Chair Costello adjourned the Senate Labor and Conmerce Standing
Comm ttee neeting at 3:26 p.m

SENATE L&C COW TTEE - 26- March 2, 2017



